Copyright

by

Amanda E. Wagner

2014

The Report Committee for Amanda E. Wagner	
Certifies that this is the approved version of the following report	rt:

N	leurocognitive	Profiles	in	Autism	Spectrum	Disord	ler
Τ,	icui ocoziniu ic				DPCCH HIII		

APPROVED BY SUPERVISING COMMITTEE:

Supervisor:		
	Douglas Greg Allen	
	Timothy Keith	

Neurocognitive Profiles in Autism Spectrum Disorder

by

Amanda E. Wagner, B.A.

Report

Presented to the Faculty of the Graduate School of

The University of Texas at Austin

in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements

for the Degree of

Master of Arts

The University of Texas at Austin

May 2014

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my sincere appreciation to my advisor and committee chair, Dr. Greg Allen, who not only provided me the opportunity to become involved in his research lab and gain access to such a rich data set, but also has provided me with invaluable mentoring over the past three years. His guidance both on this project and on my own professional development in the field of neuropsychology have been key aspects of my training thus far.

I would also like to thank the other faculty and committee members who have given their time to review this project and offer their valuable feedback: Dr. Tim Keith, Dr. Kevin Stark, Dr. Stephanie Rude, and Dr. Ed Emmer.

Additionally, much appreciation goes out to fellow lab members. Thank you for your words of advice and countless hours spent looking through data together.

Lastly, a special thank you to my friends and family who have given me unconditional love and support throughout this process. Your encouragement has been the driving force behind my success. I love you and appreciate each and every one of you.

Abstract

Neurocognitive Profiles in Autism Spectrum Disorder

Amanda E. Wagner, M.A.

The University of Texas at Austin, 2014

Supervisor: Douglas Greg Allen

The current research project examines the performance of a group of high functioning young adult males with autism spectrum disorders on standardized measures of neurocognitive functioning to determine whether distinct cognitive profiles of strengths and weaknesses emerge. Neuropsychological test data across various domains: general cognitive ability, visuospatial processing, verbal learning and memory, visual learning and memory, working memory, reasoning, cognitive flexibility, attention, receptive language, expressive language, social and emotional processing, and fine motor skills were examined. Data were analyzed using cluster analysis to assess for the presence and nature of unique clusters/subgroups based on neuropsychological test performance. Three unique clusters were derived from the analyses. This study highlights the welldocumented heterogeneity across the spectrum of autism and suggests a method for parsing a heterogeneous sample of ASD subjects into smaller and more meaningful

V

homogeneous groups using standardized neuropsychological assessments.

Table of Contents

List of Tables	vii
List of Figures	viii
Chapter 1: Introduction	1
Subtyping ASD	1
The Cognitive Profile of ASD	4
Chapter 2: Methods	6
Participants and Procedures	6
Measures	6
Statistical Analyses	7
Chapter 3: Results	9
Chapter 4: Discussion	11
Limitations	13
Appendix	15
References	20

List of Tables

Table 1. Neuropsychological tests and scores included in the analyses	15
Table 2. Distances between final cluster centers	16
Table 3. Percentages of ADOS classifications by cluster.	18
Table 4. ANOVA results	19

List of Figures

Fioure	1 Mean	domain z-scores	for each	cluster	7
rigure.	1. IVICan	domain z-scores	101 Cacil	clusic1	1

Chapter 1: Introduction

A significant proportion of experienced professionals report difficulty distinguishing between each of the diagnostic categories subsumed under ASD in the DSM-IV TR (Happé, 2011; Howlin, 2003; Macintosh & Dissanayake, 2004; Mayes, Calhoun, & Crites, 2001; Williams et al., 2008). Additionally, other developmental disorders, such as Rett syndrome, present with clinically similar symptomology (Hagberg, Hanefeld, Percy, & Skjeldal, 2002; Percy, 2011). Due to the large amount of heterogeneity, both across the spectrum and within each diagnostic category (e.g., autistic disorder, Asperger's disorder), as well as limited research supporting a clear distinction among the various diagnostic categories, the authors of the 5th Edition of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual (DSM-5) have eliminated these categories altogether. Clinicians will now classify all variations as autism spectrum disorder, with the option of specifying varying levels of functioning ranging from "requiring support" to "requiring very substantial support" (American Psychiatric Association, 2013).

There has been some controversy in the literature over whether or not the changes in ASD diagnostic criteria are beneficial (Lai, Lombardo, Chakrabarti, & Baron-Cohen, 2013; Wiggins, Robins, Adamson, Bakeman, & Henrich, 2012; Wing, Gould, & Gillberg, 2011). Additionally, some individuals within the ASD community are upset by the changes and feel as though it is inappropriate to classify all individuals across the spectrum under one diagnostic label (Federico-O'Murchu, 2013). There is also concern that the new criteria will result in some individuals losing their diagnostic label, which would have a negative impact on eligibility for services and support (Safeminds, 2012).

SUBTYPING ASD

Researchers have argued the benefit of parsing the heterogeneity of ASD into more homogenous subtypes (Grzadzinski, Huerta, & Lord, 2013; Happé, Ronald, & Plomin, 2006). A common methodological approach has been to use cluster analysis in order to determine group membership without specifying diagnoses *a priori*, thus classifying subjects empirically based on

quantitative data. Researchers have utilized cluster analysis and other multivariate approaches in attempting to determine the number and nature of ASD subtypes based on behavioral symptoms (Bruining et al., 2010; Constantino et al., 2004; Hu & Steinberg, 2009; Lecavalier, 2006; Malvy et al., 2004; Rescorla, 1988; Ring, Woodbury-Smith, Watson, Wheelwright, & Baron-Cohen, 2008; Roux et al., 1995; Sevin et al., 1995; Szatmari, Bartolucci, & Bremner, 1989; Verté et al., 2006; Wiggins, et al., 2012), cognitive measures (Fein, Waterhouse, Lucci, & Snyder, 1985; Lewis, Murdoch, & Woodyatt, 2007; Rapin, Dunn, Allen, Stevens, & Fein, 2009), brain imaging data (Hrdlicka et al., 2005), or a mix of these data types (Ben-Sasson et al., 2008; Bitsika, Sharpley, & Orapeleng, 2008; Campbell, Shic, Macari, & Chawarska, 2013; Eagle, Romanczyk, & Lenzenweger, 2010; Eaves, Ho, & Eaves, 1994; Fein et al., 1999; Garon et al., 2008; Hameury et al., 1995; Lane, Dennis, & Geraghty, 2011; Lane, Young, Baker, & Angley, 2010; Prior et al., 1998; Ronald et al., 2006; Roux et al., 1997; Sacco et al., 2012; Shao et al., 2003; Siegel, Anders, Ciaranello, Bienenstock, & Kraemer, 1986; Spiker, Lotspeich, Dimiceli, Myers, & Risch, 2002; Stevens et al., 2000).

Results have been inconsistent, with data supporting models with two (Eagle, et al., 2010; Fein, et al., 1999; Garon, et al., 2008; Roux, et al., 1997; Stevens, et al., 2000), three (Ben-Sasson, et al., 2008; Bitsika, et al., 2008; Campbell, et al., 2013; Lane, et al., 2010; Lewis, et al., 2007; Prior, et al., 1998; Rapin, et al., 2009; Roux, et al., 1995; Spiker, et al., 2002; Szatmari, et al., 1989; Verté, et al., 2006; Wiggins, et al., 2012; Wing & Gould, 1979), four (Eaves, et al., 1994; Hameury, et al., 1995; Hrdlicka, et al., 2005; Hu & Steinberg, 2009; Malvy, et al., 2004; Ring, et al., 2008; Sacco, et al., 2012; Sevin, et al., 1995; Siegel, et al., 1986), or more subtypes (Fein, et al., 1985; Lane, et al., 2011; Lecavalier, 2006; Rescorla, 1988). Additionally, the nature of ASD subtypes has also been inconsistent, with some researchers finding support for distinct phenotypic subtypes (Bruining, et al., 2010; Campbell, et al., 2013; Eaves, et al., 1994; Fein, et al., 1985; Hameury, et al., 1995; Hrdlicka, et al., 2005; Hu & Steinberg, 2009; Lane, et al., 2011; Lane, et al., 2010; Lewis, et al., 2007; Malvy, et al., 2004; Rapin, et al., 2009; Ronald, et al., 2006; Roux, et al., 1995; Sacco, et al., 2012; Shao, et al., 2003; Siegel, et al., 1986; Silverman et

al., 2002; Wing & Gould, 1979) and others arguing that ASD clusters represent a severity gradient (Ben-Sasson, et al., 2008; Bitsika, et al., 2008; Constantino, et al., 2004; Eagle, et al., 2010; Fein, et al., 1999; Prior, et al., 1998; Ring, et al., 2008; Sevin, et al., 1995; Spiker, et al., 2002; Stevens, et al., 2000; Szatmari, et al., 1989; Verté, et al., 2006; Wiggins, et al., 2012).

Numerous studies have been dedicated to better understanding the range of behavioral, social, and communication functioning across the spectrum of ASD, yet there is a paucity of research examining variations of cognitive abilities within this population. Although the importance of assessing cognitive ability in individuals with ASD has been well documented (Frith, 2012; Happé & Frith, 1996), only a few of the studies listed above have included measures of cognitive functioning in the clustering algorithm. When these data were included, they were often limited to a few cognitive domains [e.g., general intellectual ability (IQ), measures of language functioning (Fein, et al., 1985; Lewis, et al., 2007; Rapin, et al., 2009)]. Results from studies using single broad measures of cognitive functioning (e.g., FSIQ) or only measures from one domain of functioning (e.g., language) may be somewhat misleading due to the limited scope of cognitive data included in the models.

The most comprehensive attempt to cluster ASD subjects based on unique cognitive profiles was conducted by Fein and colleagues in 1985. This study utilized a hierarchical cluster analysis to group 54 children with ASD, ages 5-17 years old, using four composite scores from the McCarthy Scales of Children's Abilities (Verbal, Perceptual Performance, Quantitative, and Memory) and the Peabody Picture Vocabulary Test (PPVT) as an additional measure of language ability. Results from this study suggested that an eight-cluster solution provided the best fit. Approximately half of the children were clustered into three groups, with peaks on perceptual-performance tests. Two clusters had peaks on verbal tests. Two clusters had more complex patterns of inter-test scatter and one cluster had minimal scatter demonstrating a profile of impairment across domains included in the analyses (Fein, et al., 1985).

THE COGNITIVE PROFILE OF ASD

The heterogeneity of cognitive abilities within ASD has been well documented. Just as the etiology of ASD is unknown, it is also unclear *when* abnormality associated with ASD initially develops. Some researchers have found evidence for markers as early as 20 weeks gestation (Allen, et al., *in preparation*) while others report normal development until the second year of life (Ozonoff, et al., 2010); therefore, the course of individual brain development and developmental dysfunction is likely variable. Variability in etiology and/or the course of brain development may play a role in the variability of cognitive functioning within this population. Individuals with an ASD have a diverse range of cognitive abilities and disabilities and thus, attempting to define one single cognitive profile of ASD may not be realistic.

Numerous attempts have been made to describe *the* neurocognitive profile of ASD; however no single model that has been put forth has successfully captured the range of heterogeneity in the population. The "Theory of Mind" cognitive model is an attempt to explain impairments in social communication (Baron-Cohen, Leslie, & Frith, 1985), yet this model fails to account for stereotypical movements and repetitive interests. The "Executive Dysfunction" cognitive model is used to explain repetitive interests and lack of generativity (Ozonoff, Pennington, & Rogers, 1991), yet not all individuals with ASD demonstrate cognitive impairments in executive functioning. Some researchers have described ASD as being defined by a "weak central coherence" (Happé & Frith, 2006), though this explanatory model is limited to non-social deficits in ASD. Attempts at finding a unitary cognitive model to explain the heterogeneous range of impairment in ASD have been largely unsuccessful (For Review: Charman, et al., 2010). This difficulty may be partially attributed to the fact that these unitary models of cognitive profiles have often been described by mean deficits across a heterogeneous sample, thus obscuring different patterns of spared/impaired cognitive functioning that may exist in subgroups of individuals with ASD.

In summary, there is support for continued research aimed at defining homogenous subtypes of ASD. However, previous attempts to define these subtypes based on behavioral

symptomology, limited cognitive measures, brain-imaging data, or an assortment of these variables have been inconsistent. Researchers have also emphasized the importance of defining a cognitive profile of strengths and weakness in ASD, yet capturing the cognitive variability of ASD in one model may be unrealistic. To our knowledge, no studies to date have attempted to define distinct cognitive profiles/subtypes based on performance across a comprehensive battery of neuropsychological tests.

This exploratory study aims to determine whether distinct homogenous neurocognitive profiles/subtypes exist among a small group of young adult males with high functioning ASD by examining performance on standardized measures of neurocognitive functioning across twelve domains: general cognitive ability, visuospatial processing, verbal learning and memory, visual learning and memory, working memory, reasoning, cognitive flexibility, attention, receptive language, expressive language, social and emotional processing, and fine motor skills.

Chapter 2: Methods

PARTICIPANTS AND PROCEDURES

Data were previously collected as part of a larger study examining the anatomical and functional connectivity of the cerebellum in autism spectrum disorder (ASD). All data were deidentified prior to the current study. Participants were 20 young adult males between the ages of 18 and 24 years old (M = 21.140, SD = 2.197). Subjects were recruited into the larger study via professional recommendation and self-referral as well as advertising through various agencies, conferences, schools, and websites. Each subject was administered a standardized neuropsychological battery by a trained administrator. All subjects gave informed consent prior to testing, and were compensated for their time. The University of Texas at Austin Institutional Review Board approved all procedures.

Inclusion criteria required that subjects be between 18 and 26 years old and speak English as their primary language. Participants were excluded if they had an IQ (as measured by the Wechsler Abbreviated Scales of Intelligence [WASI]) of <70, a known history of epilepsy, mental retardation, fragile X syndrome, or other psychiatric or neurologic diagnosis, experienced a significant head injury that involved loss of consciousness for greater than 30 minutes, or had any significant physical or psychiatric disability that prevented involvement in the study.

Subjects in the ASD group were evaluated by a psychologist with expertise in autism diagnosis prior to further testing. Confirmation of ASD diagnosis, using DSM-IV diagnostic criteria (American Psychiatric Association, 2013), was determined using the Autism Diagnostic Interview-Revised (ADI-R) (Lord, Rutter, & Couteur, 1994) and the Autism Diagnostic Observation Schedule (ADOS) (Lord et al., 1989).

MEASURES

Participants were evaluated using standardized assessments and administration procedures across 12 domains of neurocognitive functioning: general cognitive ability, visuospatial processing, verbal learning and memory, visual learning and memory, working

memory, reasoning, cognitive flexibility, attention, receptive language, expressive language, social and emotional processing, and fine motor skills. For information on tests included within each domain, see **Table 1**. All tests are considered to have high reliability and validity (Strauss, Sherman, & Spreen, 2006).

STATISTICAL ANALYSES

Data from all neuropsychological measures were transformed into z-scores based on published test norms when available or on norms derived from the sample when test norms were not available. These z-scores were then combined into composite scores reflecting each domain of interest, resulting in 12 composite mean z-scores. Within each domain, correlations between z-scores ranged from moderate to high (r = .408 to .912). To determine whether unique profiles of neuropsychological functioning exist among individuals with ASD, as well as the nature of these potential subgroups, k-means cluster analysis was performed.

Although the *k*-means procedure is commonly used in this type of analysis, as it is less susceptible to outliers and the inclusion of potentially non-relevant variables, one limitation is the requirement to indicate the number of clusters (*k*) to be extracted *a priori* (Aldenderfer, 1985). Because this study is exploratory in nature in that the intent is to identify the presence and nature of *potential* subtypes based on neuropsychological test performance, the appropriate number of clusters was unknown. Therefore, an initial agglomerative hierarchical clustering algorithm was run using Ward's minimum variance method and squared Euclidean distance as the measure of difference between clusters. The dendrogram resulting from this initial analysis was examined for gaps in distance measurements between clusters, using procedures outlined in the SPSS manual (SPSS, 2010), to determine the number of clusters to be extracted during the *k*-means clustering procedure. Finally, the nature of the clusters identified during the *k*-means cluster analysis was defined by examining the means of the final cluster centers for each of the 12 domains. The relative importance of each domain score in the final cluster solution was

determined using analysis of variance (ANOVA) techniques. SPSS statistical software package version 19.0 was used for all statistical analyses (SPSS, 2010).

Chapter 3: Results

The dendrogram resulting from the hierarchical cluster analysis was examined and the three-cluster solution was selected as providing the best separation between clusters. A k-means cluster analysis was then run with initial cluster centers randomly generated and up to 20 iterations allowed. Final cluster centers were achieved with convergence after three iterations. See **Table 2** for distances between final cluster centers. Mean domain scores for each cluster are illustrated in **Figure 1**. Of the total sample of 20 participants, 9 (45%) belonged to Cluster 1 (C1); 9 (45%) belonged to Cluster 2 (C2); and 2 (10%) belonged to Cluster 3 (C3).

Clusters are described by their profile of apparent strengths and weakness, defined as mean domain scores greater than .67 standard deviations above or below the mean. This cutoff score was selected to correspond to standard scores above 110 or below 90, which is a commonly used criterion in clinical assessments to differentiate between average and above average or below average performance (Guilmette, Hagan, & Giuliano, 2007). Analysis of variance (ANOVA) on domain scores for each cluster provides additional information about the relative importance of each domain score to the final cluster solution by comparing the *F* statistics. Importantly, however, significance values are useful for descriptive purposes only and cannot be used to extrapolate to population differences, as they are derived from a clustering algorithm designed to optimize differences between clusters.

C1 denoted subjects with strengths in general intellectual ability (FSIQ) and reasoning, high average receptive and expressive language, and a weakness in fine-motor skills. C2 was defined by subjects with high FSIQ scores and low scores on measures of verbal learning and memory, visual learning and memory, and fine-motor skills. Generally, performance across domains appeared more varied in this cluster. C3 was comprised of 2 subjects with relatively low performance on tests of reasoning ability, cognitive flexibility, working memory, verbal learning and memory, expressive and receptive language, and visuospatial processing. While these 2 subjects may appear to be outliers, the small sample size precluded us from making

determinations about their representativeness to the population and therefore they were not removed from these analyses. Percentages of subjects in each cluster meeting criteria for autism versus autism spectrum disorders is described in **Table 3**.

Examination of the resulting ANOVA table (see **Table 4**) suggests the reasoning domain scores provided the greatest separation between clusters and thus contributed most heavily to the final cluster solution, followed by performance on tests of receptive language and verbal learning and memory. Interestingly, performance on measures of social and emotional processing was less useful for determining the final cluster solution and subjects tended to perform in the average range across the clusters in this domain.

Chapter 4: Discussion

This study highlights the well-documented heterogeneity across the spectrum of autism and related disorders and suggests a method for parsing a heterogeneous sample of ASD subjects into smaller and more meaningful homogeneous groups using standardized neuropsychological assessments.

Clusters 1 and 2 both demonstrated above average general intellectual functioning and reasoning abilities combined with below average fine-motor coordination. C1 was also characterized by high average expressive and receptive language while C2 had low scores on tests of verbal and visual learning and memory. The two subjects in C3 performed poorly across seven of the twelve domains included in the analyses, yet, in contrast to C2, they demonstrated intact visual learning and memory. Additionally, although fine-motor coordination was well below average in both C1 and C2, this function appears to be intact in C3. Thus, classifications of individuals across the spectrum of ASD that are based on broad measures of general cognitive functioning or on scores from only one domain (e.g., language) may be flawed or incomplete. Examination of performance across a wide range of domains may provide a more appropriate assessment of functioning, not just at the individual level, but also at the group level within research studies.

Although the sample consisted of only high functioning individuals with ASD, the heterogeneity of cognitive ability was readily apparent. While in the DSM-IV TR, the subcategories of ASD were based on different diagnostic criteria, in the DSM-5 a finer-grained picture of individual functioning is provided only by the use of certain specifiers (i.e., requires support, requires substantial support, or requires very substantial support). Additionally, clinicians can specify either with or without intellectual disability. Interpretation of these specifiers and of what constitutes classification into one versus another is somewhat ambiguous. In order to provide a more rich and accurate portrayal of individual strengths and weaknesses

and level of support required, diagnostic specifiers should be reflective of functioning across multiple cognitive domains.

Additionally, it will be important for treatment and intervention efforts to take into account the variability of cognitive ability and disability in ASD. Treatments may need to be tailored to specific sub-groups of individuals with ASD. Also, it will be important for researchers to consider and document variation in ability levels and adequately describe study samples in order for potentially effective interventions to gain sufficient empirical support. Otherwise, studies may inadvertently include more individuals with one cognitive profile than another, and doing so may make replications of findings particularly difficult.

Finally, neuropsychological theories of brain-behavior relationships allow us to make inferences about structural or functional impairment based on performance on behavioral neuropsychological tests, and vice versa. Knowledge of differences in brain function, structure, or connectivity may eventually help elucidate the etiologies of different cognitive subtypes of ASD. Hrdlicka and colleagues (2005) found four unique clusters of children with ASD using structural magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) of the brain. While potential ASD subtypes based on structural neuroimaging data is an exciting next step in uncovering more information about this population, research has shown that much of the underlying brain dysfunction in ASD may be more closely tied to differences in brain functioning/activation (i.e., fMRI) and altered structural and functional connectivity (i.e., DTI and fcMRI), rather than regional volumetric structural differences (Frank & Pavlakis, 2001; Minshew & Williams, 2007; Pina-Camacho et al., 2012; M. C. Stevens, 2005). Thus, variations in cognitive ability among the three clusters obtained from this study may be related to differences in underlying brain functioning and/or connectivity. We hypothesize the greatest differences in regions associated with the cognitive domains that contributed most heavily to our final cluster solutions. To assess for these differences in underlying brain function, the next step in our research will include comparison of previously collected structural, functional, and connectivity brain measures (e.g., MRI, fMRI, DTI, and fcMRI) among the different clusters.

In summary, a neuropsychological evaluation to provide individuals and their families with additional diagnostic information is an invaluable part of the assessment process. Diagnostic clarification in the form of a "neurocognitive subtype" could give the client and family useful information about cognitive strengths and weaknesses, and provide other service providers with direction for treatment and intervention planning. In addition, it will be helpful for future researchers to provide information about the cognitive profiles of subjects included in their studies, to allow for more accurate comparisons among other research samples. Future directions should include comparisons of functional imaging (fMRI) and brain connectivity (DTI, fcMRI) among cognitive subtypes of ASD.

LIMITATIONS

While the small sample size and nature of the statistical methods employed in these exploratory analyses preclude us from making many conclusions regarding the significance of our results or generalizations to the ASD population as a whole, these results do suggests a few important considerations. It will be important for future studies to replicate these analyses with larger sample sizes, including individuals with various levels of functioning across various age ranges and of both sexes. Additionally, verification of potential cognitive subtypes/clusters will be needed and should include external validation procedures, such as comparing clusters on data not included in the cluster analysis (Aldenderfer, 1985).

There are likely additional cognitive profiles within the ASD spectrum, however because this study only included high functioning ASD subjects recruited largely from UT, we were unlikely to capture subtypes existing at the lower end of the spectrum. This is a common limitation for studies that include an imaging component, as lower functioning individuals may have difficulty remaining still during the scans or may find the loud noises from the machine intolerable. Additionally, the level of overall cognitive ability of our sample was particularly high. Therefore, it should be noted that, although our subjects are characterized as being "high

functioning" there might be qualitative differences between our sample and samples consisting of high functioning individuals.

Appendix

Domain / Composite	Test	Score
Attention	Conner's Continuous	Percent commissions raw score
	Performance Test, Second Edition (CPT II V.5)	Percent omissions raw score
Reasoning	Woodcock Johnson Tests of Cognitive Abilities, Third Edition (WJ Cog III)	Analysis-Synthesis raw score Concept Formation raw score
	Wechsler Abbreviated Scales of Intelligence (WASI)	Matrix Reasoning total raw score
Cognitive	Wisconsin Card Sort Test	Perseverative Errors
Flexibility	(WCST)	Nonperseverative Errors
Working Memory	Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale (WAIS-IV)	Digit Span Backwards raw score Digit Span Sequencing raw score
Visual Learning	Brief Visuospatial Memory	Total recall raw score
and Memory	Test-Revised (BVMT-R)	Delayed recall raw score
Verbal Learning	Hopkins Verbal Learning	Total recall raw score
and Memory	Test-Revised (HVLT-R)	Delayed recall raw score
Expressive Language	Wechsler Abbreviated Scales of Intelligence (WASI)	Vocabulary total raw score
	Boston Naming Test, Second Edition (BNT)	Total raw score
Receptive	Token Test	Total raw score
Language	Peabody Picture Vocabulary Test, Fourth Edition (PPVT)	Total raw score
Visuospatial	Judgment of Line Orientation (JLO)	Total number correct
Fine Motor Coordination	Grooved Peg Board	Dominant hand completion time Non-dominant hand completion time
Social and Emotion Processing	Wechsler Advanced Clinical Solutions-Social Cognition (ACS-Social Cog) Social Perception	Total raw score
General Cognitive Ability	Wechsler Abbreviated Scales of Intelligence (WASI)	Full-scale IQ (FSIQ)

Table 1. Neuropsychological tests and scores included in the analyses.

Cluster	1	2	3
1		3.052	6.648
2	3.052		4.970
3	6.648	4.970	

Table 2. Distances between final cluster centers.

Final Cluster Centers Variables Attention Reasoning Cognitive Flexibility Working Memory Verbal Learning/Memory Expressive Language Visua Spatial Fine Motor Social/Emotional Full Scale IQ (FSIQ) Cluster

Figure 1. Mean domain z-scores for each cluster.

			Cluster Number		
			1	2	3
ADOS	Autism	N	2	4	2
Classification		% of Cluster	22.2%	57.1%	100.0%
	Autism	N	7	3	0
	Spectrum	% of Cluster	77.8%	42.9%	0%
Total		N	9	7*	2

^{*}ADOS Classification data is missing for two subjects from Cluster 2.

Table 3. Percentages of ADOS classifications by cluster.

	Cluster		Error		F	Sig.
	Mean	df	Mean	df		
	Square		Square			
Attention	.574	2	.541	15	1.061	.371
Reasoning	8.089	2	.220	17	36.792	.000
Cognitive Flexibility	2.492	2	.606	16	4.113	.036
Working Memory	4.642	2	.395	17	11.758	.001
Visual Learning/Memory	2.682	2	1.081	15	2.481	.117
Verbal Learning/Memory	9.761	2	.636	17	15.340	.000
Expressive Language	6.057	2	.646	17	9.373	.002
Receptive Language	5.440	2	.292	17	18.613	.000
Visuospatial	2.119	2	.201	15	10.561	.001
Fine Motor	2.127	2	1.549	17	1.373	.280
Social/Emotional	2.091	2	1.185	14	1.765	.207
Full Scale IQ (FSIQ)	2.900	2	.354	17	8.192	.003

Table 4. ANOVA results

References

- Aldenderfer, M. S. (1985). *Cluster Analysis*: SAGE Publications Inc.
- American Psychiatric Association, A. (2000). Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Ed. 4, Text Revision (DSM-IV-TR). Washington. D.C.
- American Psychiatric Association, A. (2013). *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders*, Ed. 5 (DSM-V). Washington, D.C.
- Baron-Cohen, S., Leslie, A. M., & Frith, U. (1985). Does the autistic child have a "theory of mind"? *Cognition*, 21(1), 37-46.
- Ben-Sasson, A., Cermak, S. A., Orsmond, G. I., Tager-Flusberg, H., Kadlec, M. B., & Carter, A. S. (2008). Sensory clusters of toddlers with autism spectrum disorders: differences in affective symptoms. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 49(8), 817-825.
- Bitsika, V., Sharpley, C. F., & Orapeleng, S. (2008). An exploratory analysis of the use of cognitive, adaptive, and behavioral indices for cluster analysis of ASD subgroups. *Journal of Intellectual Disabilty Research*, 52, 973-985.
- Bruining, H., de Sonneville, L., Swaab, H., de Jonge, M., Kas, M., van Engeland, H., & Vorstman, J. (2010). Dissecting the clinical heterogeneity of autism spectrum disorders through defined genotypes. *PLoS ONE*, *5*(5). Retrieved from doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0010887
- Campbell, D. J., Shic, F., Macari, S., & Chawarska, K. (2013). Gaze response to dyadic bids at 2 years related to outcomes at 3 years in autism spectrum disorders: a subtyping analysis. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*. Retrieved from doi:10.1007/s10803-013-1885-9
- Charman, T., Jones, C. R. G., Pickles, A., Simonoff, E., Baird, G., & Happe, F. (2010). Defining the cognitive phenotype of autism. *Brain Research*, 1380, 10-21.
- Constantino, J. N., Gruber, C. P., Davis, S., Hayes, S., Passanante, N., & Przybeck, T. (2004). The factor structure of autistic traits. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 45(4), 719-726.
- Eagle, R. F., Romanczyk, R. G., & Lenzenweger, M. F. (2010). Classification of children with autism spectrum disorders: A finite mixture modeling approach to heterogeneity. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 4, 772-781.
- Eaves, L. C., Ho, H. H., & Eaves, D. M. (1994). Subtypes of autism by cluster analysis. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 24(1), 3-21.
- Federico-O'Murchu, L. (2013). Farewell to Aspies: some families reluctant to let go of Aspreger's diagnosis. *Today Moms*
- Fein, D., Stevens, M., Dunn, M., Waterhouse, L., Allen, D., Rapin, I., & Feinstein, C. (1999). Subtypes of pervasive developmental disorder: clinical characteristics. *Child Neuropsychology*, 5(1), 1-23.

- Fein, D., Waterhouse, L., Lucci, D., & Snyder, D. (1985). Cognitive subtypes in developmentally disabled children: a pilot study. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 15(1), 77-95.
- Frank, Y., & Pavlakis, S. G. (2001). Brain imaging in neurobehavioral disorders. *Pediatric Neurology*, 25(4), 278-287.
- Frith, U. (2012). Why we need cognitive explanations of autism. *The Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology*, 65(11), 2073-2092.
- Garon, N., Bryson, S. E., Zwaigenbaum, L., Smith, I. M., Brian, J., Roberts, W., & Szatmari, P. (2008). Temprament and its relationship to autistic symptoms in a high-risk infant sib cohort. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, *37*, 59-78.
- Grzadzinski, R., Huerta, M., & Lord, C. (2013). DSM-5 and autism spectrum disorders (ASDs): an opportunity of identifying ASD subtypes. *Molecular Autism*, 4(12), 1-6.
- Guilmette, T. J., Hagan, L. D., & Giuliano, A. J. (2007). Assigning qualitative descriptions to test scores in neuropsychology: forensic implications. *The Clinical Neuropsychologist*. Retrieved from doi:10.1080/13854040601064559
- Hagberg, B., Hanefeld, F., Percy, A., & Skjeldal, O. (2002). An update on clinically applicable diagnostic criteria in Rett syndrome. *European Journal of Paediatric Neurology*, 6, 293-297.
- Hameury, L., Roux, S., Barthelemy, C., Adrien, J. L., Desombre, H., Sauvage, D., . . . Lelord, G. (1995). Quantified multidementional assessment of autism and other pervasive developmental disorders: aplication for bioclinical research. *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 4(2), 123-135.
- Happé, F. (2011). Criteria, categories, and continua: autism and related disorders. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 50(6), 540-542.
- Happé, F., & Frith, U. (1996). The neuropsychology of autism. Brain, 119, 1377-1400.
- Happé, F., & Frith, U. (2006). The weak coherence account: detail-focused cognitive style in autism spectrum disorders. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 36(1), 5-25.
- Happé, F., Ronald, A., & Plomin, R. (2006). Time to give up on a single explanation for Autism. *Nature Neuroscience*, 9(10), 1218-1220.
- Howlin, P. (2003). Outcome in high-functioning adults with autism with and without early language delays: implications for the differentiation between autism and Asperger syndrome. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 33(1), 3-13.
- Hrdlicka, M., Dudova, I., Beranova, I., Neuwirth, J., Komarek, V., Faladova, L., . . . Urbanek, T. (2005). Subtypes of autism by cluster analysis based on structural MRI data. *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 14(3), 138-144.
- Hu, V. W., & Steinberg, M. E. (2009). Novel clustering of items from the Autism Diagnostic Interview-Revised to define phenotypes within autism spectrum disorders. *Autism Research*, 2, 67-77.

- Lai, M.-C., Lombardo, M. V., Chakrabarti, B., & Baron-Cohen, S. (2013). Subgrouping the autism "spectrum": reflections on the DSM-5. *PLoS ONE*, 11(4). Retrieved from doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.1001544
- Lane, A. E., Dennis, S. J., & Geraghty, M. E. (2011). Brief report: further evidence of sensory subtypes in autism. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 41, 826-831.
- Lane, A. E., Young, R. L., Baker, A. E. Z., & Angley, M. T. (2010). Sensory processing subtypes in autism: association with adaptive behavior. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 40, 112-122.
- Lecavalier, L. (2006). Behavioral and emotional problems in young people with pervasive developmental disorders: relative prevalence, effects of subject characteristics, and empirical classification. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 36(8), 1101-1114.
- Lewis, F. M., Murdoch, B. E., & Woodyatt, G. C. (2007). Communicative competence and metalinguistic ability: performance by children and adults with autism specturm disorder. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, *37*, 1525-1538.
- Lord, C., Rutter, M., & Couteur, A. L. (1994). Autism Diagnostic Interview-Revised: A revised version of a diagnostic interview for caregivers of individuals with posible pervasive developmental disorders. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 24(5), 659-685.
- Lord, C., Rutter, M., Goode, S., Heemsbergen, J., Jordan, H., Mawhood, L., & Schopler, E. (1989). Autism Diagnostic Observation Schedule: A standardized observation of communicative and social behavior. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 19(2), 185-212.
- Macintosh, K. E., & Dissanayake, C. (2004). The similarites and differences between autistic disorder and Asperger's disorder: a review. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 45(3), 421-434.
- Malvy, J., Barthélémy, C., Damie, D., Lenoir, P., Bodier, C., & Roux, S. (2004). Behaviour profiles in a population of infants later diagnosed as having autistic disorder. *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 13, 115-122.
- Mayes, S. D., Calhoun, S. L., & Crites, D. L. (2001). Does DSM-IV Asperger's disorder exist? Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology, 29(3), 263-271.
- Minshew, N. J., & Williams, D. L. (2007). The new neurobiology of autism: cortex, connectivity, and neuronal organization. *Archives of Neurology*, 64(7), 945-950.
- Ozonoff, S., Iosif, A.-M., Baguio, F., Cook, I. C., Hill, M. M., Hutman, T., . . . Young, G. S. (2010). A prospective study of the emergence of early behavioral signs of autism. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 49(3).
- Ozonoff, S., Pennington, B. F., & Rogers, S. J. (1991). Executive function deficits in high-functioning autistic individuals: relationships to theory of mind. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 32(7), 1081-1105.
- Percy, A. K. (2011). Rett syndrome: exploring the autism link. *Archives of Neurology*, 68(8), 985-989.

- Pina-Camacho, L., Villero, S., Fraguas, D., Boada, L., Janssen, J., Navas-Sanchez, F. J., . . . Parellada, M. (2012). Autism spectrum disorder: does neuroimaging support the DSM-5 proposal for a symptom dyad? A systematic review of functional magnetic resonance imaging and diffusion tensor imaging studies. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 42, 1326-1341.
- Prior, M., Eisenmajer, R., Leekam, S., Wing, L., Gould, J., Ong, B., & Dowe, D. (1998). Are there subgroups within the autistic spectrum? A cluster analysis of a group of children with autistic spectrum disorders. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 39(6), 893-902.
- Rapin, I., Dunn, M. A., Allen, D. A., Stevens, M. C., & Fein, D. (2009). Subtypes of language disorders in school-age children with autism. *Developmental Neuropsychology*, 34(1), 66-84.
- Rescorla, L. (1988). Cluster analytic identification of autistic preschoolers. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 18(4), 475-492.
- Ring, H., Woodbury-Smith, M., Watson, P., Wheelwright, S., & Baron-Cohen, S. (2008). Clinical heterogeneity among people with high functioning autism spectrum conditions: evidence favouring a continuous severity gradient. *Behavioral and Brain Functions*, 4(11), 1-6.
- Ronald, A., Happé, F., Bolton, P., Butcher, L. M., Price, T. S., Wheelwright, S., . . . Plomin, R. (2006). Genetic heterogeneity between the three components of the autism spectrum: A twin study. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry* 45(6), 691-699.
- Roux, S., Bruneau, N., Garreau, B., Guerin, P., Adrien, J.-L., Dansart, P., . . . Barthelemy, C. (1997). Bioclinical profiles of autism and other developmental disorders using a multivariate statistical approach. *Society of Biological Psychiatry*, 42, 1148-1156.
- Roux, S., Malvy, J., Bruneau, N., Guérin, P., Sauvage, D., & Barthélémy, C. (1995). Indentification of behaviour profiles with a population of autistic children using multivariate statistical methods. *European Journal of Child and Adolescent Paychiatry*, 4(4), 249-258.
- Sacco, R., Lenti, C., Saccani, M., Curatolo, P., Manzi, B., Bravaccio, C., & Persico, A. M. (2012). Cluster analysis of autistic patients based on principal pathogenic components. *Autism Research*, 5, 137-147.
- Safeminds. (2012). Changes in DSM-5 autism definition could negatively impact millions, from http://www.safeminds.org/news/documents/DSM-5 Release 1 26 2012 Final with Logos.pdf
- Sevin, J. A., Matson, J. L., Coe, D., Love, S. R., Matese, M. J., & Benavidez, D. A. (1995). Empirically derived subtypes of pervasive developmental disoders: a cluster analytic study. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 25(6), 561-578.
- Shao, Y., Cuccaro, M. L., Hauser, E. R., Raiford, K. L., Menold, M. M., Wolpert, C. M., . . . Pericak-Vance, M. A. (2003). Fine mapping of autistic disorder to chromosome 15q11-q13 by use of phenotypic subtypes. *American Journal of Human Genetics*, 72, 539-548.

- Siegel, B., Anders, T. F., Ciaranello, R. D., Bienenstock, B., & Kraemer, H. C. (1986). Empirically derived subclassification of the autistic syndrome. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 16(3), 275-293.
- Silverman, J. M., Smith, C. J., Schmeidler, J., Hollander, E., Lawlor, B. A., Fitzgerald, M., . . . Consortium, T. A. G. R. E. (2002). Symptom domains in autism and related conditions: evidence for familiality. *American Journal of Medical Genetics (Neuropsychiatric Genetics)*, 114, 64-73.
- Spiker, D., Lotspeich, L. J., Dimiceli, S., Myers, R. M., & Risch, N. (2002). Behavioral phenotypic variation in autism multiplex amilies: evidence for a continuous severity gradient. *American Journal of Medical Genetics (Neuropsychiatric Genetics)*, 114, 129-136.
- Stevens, M. C. (2005). Functional neuroimaging in child and adolescent psychiatry. *Connecticut Medicine*, 69(9), 561-570.
- Stevens, M. C., Fein, D. A., Dunn, M., Allen, D., Waterhouse, L. H., Feinstein, C., & Rapin, I. (2000). Subgroups of children with autism by cluster analysis: a longitudinal examination. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 39(3), 346-352.
- Strauss, E., Sherman, E. M. S., & Spreen, O. (2006). A Compendium of Neuropsychological Tests: Administration, Norms, and Commentary (3rd ed. ed.): Oxford University Press.
- Szatmari, P., Bartolucci, G., & Bremner, R. (1989). Asperger's syndrome and autism: a comparission of early history and outcome. *Developmental Medicine and Child Neurology*, 31(6), 709-720.
- Verté, S., Geurts, H. M., Roeyers, H., Rosseel, Y., Oosterlaan, J., & Sergeant, J. A. (2006). Can the Children's Communication Checklist differentiate autism spectrum subtypes? *Autism*, 10(3), 266-287.
- Wiggins, L. D., Robins, D. L., Adamson, L. B., Bakeman, R., & Henrich, C. C. (2012). Support for a dimensional view of autism spectrum disorders. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 42, 191-200.
- Williams, K., Tuck, M., Helmer, M., Bartak, L., Mellis, C., & Peat, J. K. (2008). Diagnostic labeling of autism spectrum disorders in NSW. *Journal of Pediatrics and Child Health*, 44, 108-113.
- Wing, L., & Gould, J. (1979). Severe impairments of social interaction and associated abnormalities in children: epidemiology and classification. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 9(1), 11-29.
- Wing, L., Gould, J., & Gillberg, C. (2011). Autism spectrum disorders in the DSM-V: better or worse that the DSM-IV? *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, *32*, 768-773.